BAYALA v. UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FLORENT BAYALA,
Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 14-00007RC)
V. : Re Document Ne.: 14, 18

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF
HOMELAND SECURITY,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM & ORDER

GRANTING DEFENDANT’'SMOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE , FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT ; AND DENYING PLAINTIFF 'SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

I. INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § $B@&ent Bayala
(“Bayala”) requestedarious materialfrom theU.S. Department of Homeland Security
(“DHS”). After DHS disclosedcertaindocuments but withheld otheBayalafiled the instant
actionto compel DHS to explain its reasons, such that he could file a “meaningful”

administrativeappeal Before this Court arBHS’s motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for

summary judgmer(ECF No. 14) and Bayala’s motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 18).

Having reviewedhe parties’ submissions, this Cogrants DHS’s motiomand denies Baa’'s
motion, anddismisseshe complaintfor failure to exhaust administrative remedies
II. BACKGROUND
Bayala is a citizen of Burkina Faso seeking asylum in the United S@&¢eSompl. | 1,

ECF No. 1! In November 2013Bayala submitted EOIA requesseskinganasylum officer’s

! Because this Court resolves this case under Federal Rule of Civil Proced)(6)1#{e factual overvielerein
draws from the compliarand exhibits attached to the complaiBee Brass v. Am. Film Technologies, 1887
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notes, the officer's Assessment to Refer meandum, and other previously undisclosed
materials SeeCompl. 11 24-25; FOIA Request, Compl. Ex. 1, ECF No?1Thefollowing
month,a DHSrepresentative sent Bayaksponsive information on a compact delong witha
cover letter Compl. 1 27.The letter stated that DHS had decidiedvithholdcertainresponsive
materials in part or in fulland tosubmitothersto the Department of State and U.S. Immigration
andCustoms Enforcement (“ICE”) for further considerati@eeletter from Jill A. Eggleston,
Director, FOIA Operations, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, taaw@leveland,
Counsel for Florent Bayala (Dec. 17, 2013), Compl. Ex. 2, ECF No DY Letter”). The
asylum officer’s notes and Assessment to Refer were withheld in full, atettdrexplained
thatsuch documents “contain no reasonably segregable portion(s) of non-exempt information.”
Id. Moreover the lettelisted and described four statutory exemptitirad it claimed were
“applicable”to the withheld informatiofi Lastly, the cover letter advis&hyala of his right to

an administrative appeald.

Bayalathen filed the instant action without pursuimgadministrativeappeal® Bayala’s
complaint claims thaDHS’s “vague and cryptic” cover letter renderad administrative appeal
“illusory and a waste of timesuch that DHS is “thwarting” Bayala’s right &ppeal Compl.

1 3. Thecomplaint'sfirst cause of action alleges tHaHS'’s letterprovided iradequate

“reasons’for thewithholding determinations, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i). Compl.

F.2d 142, 150 (2d Cir. 1998)miting bases oRule 12(b)(6) determinatiorie complaints allegations andxhibits
attached to or incorporated into complaint, amothgmaterial$.

2 See Abtew v. U.S. Dep't of HomelaBdc, No. 13¢cv-1566, 2014 WL 2620982, at+2 (D.D.C. June 13, 2014)
(providing overview of asylum application process and function of AssessmBefer).

®The letter cited 5 U.S.C. § 8f)(5), (b)(6), (b)(7)(C), (b)(7)(E), whictover, respectivelyinter-agency or itra-
agency memoranda or lettepsivate information in personnel, medical, and similar fifgsjate personal
information in law enforcement recordandrecords or infomation that would disclose law enforcement techniques
and proceduresSeeDHS Letter. The letteralsostated that withheld information “may” or “could consist of”
various materials typically covered by each exemptidn

* SeeCompl. 38a(“DHS has mt enabled plaintiff to make a meaningful administrative appe&§l4R(“[P]laintiff
is unable ® make a meaningful app€?d| id. at 13 (requesting various relief “so that plaintiff may make a
meaningful administrative appeal”).



1 33. Thecomplaint’ssecond cause of action alleges &S failed to explain why requested
information was not “reasonably segregébleder5 U.S.C. § 552(b). Compl. T 40.
Accordingly, Bayala asks this Court to order DHSr®Write” the cover letterld. at 13. The
revised letter wouldlescribe thelocuments submitted tbhe Department of State and ICE and
provide “the real reasons” why the asylum officer’'s notes and AssessmegfetonRre
withheld and why information was not segregable, suchBgalacould “make a meaningful
administrative appeal.1d. Bayala further asks this Court to declare that the cover letter violates
FOIA, to enjoin DHS from issuing similar let®in the future, and taward reasonable
attorney’s fees and costil.

After Bayala initiated this lawsuit, DH®luntarily released the asylumfiokr’'s notes
along with other documentsSeeDef.’s Ex. B, ECF No. 14-2As a result, Bayala now seeks
DHS’sreasons for withholdingn full “just one document™the Assessment to Refer. Pl.’s
Mem. Opp’n DHS’s Mot. Summ. J. 16, ECF No.’L&HS has fileda motion to dismiss or, in
the alternative, for summary judgment. ECF No® Bayalahasmovedfor summary

judgment. ECF No. 18.

® See alsdl.’s Mem. SuppMot. Summ. J. 15, ECF No. 18THe Court should remand the case back to the DHS,
for it to provide the real reasons wthe assessmentay be exempt and why nothing can be segreddmmphasis
added)).In its papers filed with this CoydDHS has providedubstantiafeasoning supporting its withholding of
the Assessmermaind its norsegregability determinatiorSee, e.gDef.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J—82, ECF

No. 14(withholding of assessment); Def.’s Reply Pl.’s Opp’n Def.’s Miaatmm J8-9, ECF No. 17 (non
segregability); Def.’s Opp’n Pl.’s Mot. Summ. 318, ECF No. 19withholding of assessment and ron
segregability).However,DHS's court filingsdo not render this case mdo¢causdayalaseeks the specific relief
of an amended DHE&sponse lettemlong with an injunction barring DHS from issuialtegedly deficient letters in
the future SeeNewport Aeronautical Sales v. Dep't of the Air Fqré84 F.3d 160, 164 (D.C. Cir. 2012)
(explaining that receipt of materials requestedenriDIA “will not moot a claim that an agenpglicy or practice
will impair the partys lawful accss to information in the fututdcitation omitted). Moreover, because Bayala
neither seeks disclosure of documents nor disputes the merits & D& determinationDHS’s discussion of

the various FOIA exempinsis irrelevant to this casePIs.” Meam. Opp’n DHS’s Mot. Summ. J. @xplaining that
the applicability of specifiexemptions “is not yet before the CourtSge alsacCompl. 13 (requested relidbes not
include disclosure of documents).

® DHS'’s motion is styled as a “motion for summary judgmettdwever, in its motion, DHS alternatively contends
that “Plaintiff's Complaint Should Be Dismissed for Failure to Exhaust Administrativedgées.” Def.’s Mem.
Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 6.



[ll. ANALYSIS

As a general mattepjaintiffs challenging an agency’s response to a FOIA request must
exhaust the administrative appeals process betwmking relief in courtSee Oglesby v. U.S.
Dep't of the Army920 F.2d 57, 61-62 (D.C. Cir. 1990). Exhaustion enables an agency “to
exercise its gcretion and expertise . . . and to make a factual record to support its dedidion.”
at 61. Furthermoraeyith the benefit of an administrative appeaiencies cancbrrect or rethink
initial misjudgments or errors” and promote uniformity inat§udications. Id. at 64-65.

“[C] ourts in this Circuit analyze failure to exhaust administrative remedies motions
under Rule 12(b)(6)because exhaustion is an element of a plaintiff's clahyuda, Inc. v. Fed.
TradeComm’n No. 13¢€v-1266, 2014 WL 4829574, at *5 (D.D.C. Sept. 30, 2014) (citing
Hidalgo v. Fed. Bureau of InvestigatioB44 F.3d 1256, 1260 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (vacating grant of
summary judgment and remanding with instructions to dismiss comptadet Rule 12(b)(6)
for failureto exhaust administrative remedies)). “$A4 jurisprudential doctrine, failure to
exhaust precludgadicial review if ‘the purposes of exhaustion’ and thartgcular
administrative schemeupport such a bar.Hidalgo, 344 F.3d at 1258-59 (quotiQglesby
920 F.2dat61). The exhaustion requirement is triggered so long as the agency’s inpiahses
satisfiesbasic requirements, such as containing a statement of the agency’s “ddtemaind
the reasons therefor.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(AJ0glesby 920 F.3d at 65.

DHS argues that Bayala’s complaint must be dismissed because he has xlealust
administrative remediedDef.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 6—Bayala does not contest the
general rule that exhaustion is requifedlor doeshedispute thdact thathedid not pursue an

administrative appeal prior to commencing this actiSee supraote 4. Rather, Bayala

" SeePls.’ Mem. Opp’n DHS’s Mot. Summ. J. 6 (“[I]n a routine FOIA claim,.the requester should first exhaust
all administrative remedidsefore seeking relief in a federal court.”).



contends that in this particular case, lack of exhaustion should not prevent him from obtaining
judicial relief.

Bayalafirst submitsthat the “purposes of exhaustion” would not be served in this case,
Hidalgo, 344 F.3dat 159, becausd®HS’s imprecise initial respons# allowed to stand, would
prevent Bayala from advancing “targeted and cogent argumentshenatyprecludea
“meaningful” administrative appedtl.’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 4-%his Court
disagrees. Bayala cites cases faulting agenciesddequateeasons for withholding
information butin all of those cases, the FOIA requestead exhausteddministrative
remedies, thereby affording thgencythe opportunity “to exercise its discretion and expertise,”
“to make a factual record,” and to “correct or rethink initial misjudgments orsetrOglesby
920 F.2d at 61, 64. Moreover Bayala doesot allegethatDHS would “very likely” uphold its
initial decisionon appeal, such that requiring exhaustion would be “futil[e] and inefficien[t].”
Ayuda 2014 WL 4829574, at *?7. At bottom Bayala assumes thiitie “purposes of exhaustion”
would be served only if he couldake“targeted” argumentis an administrative appeaHe
fails tocite anyauthorityfor this proposition or to explawhy an appeal from DHS’s letter, as
written, would necessarilgrecludeDHS from * exercis[inglits discretion and expertise” or
“mak(ing] a factual record to support its decisiof®glesby 920 F.2d at 61. In the enBayala

contends that this Court’s “broad equitable poweesiexcusehim from the exhaustion

8 Bayala relies of€Citizens for Responsibility & Ethics in Wash. v. U.S. Dep't of Jystiég F.3d 1082, 108®.C.
Cir. 2014)(explaining that administrative remedies were exhauskdelqd Data Cent., Inc. W.S. Dep't of the Air
Force 566 F.2d 242248(D.C. Cir. 1977)same) Abtew 2014 WL2620982 at *3(same) Moreover, because
district courts review thapplicability of FOIA exemptiors de novo5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B}theinitial agency
determination’s depth and thoroughnessddulétle ultimaterelevance

° See also Wilber v. CenntelligenceAgency 355 F.3d 675, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (concluding that purposes of
exhaustion did not support bagainsfudicial review where agey accepted and processed appeal, notwithstanding
FOIA requester’s tardy filing of appeabull v. I.LR.S., U.S. Dep't of the Treasu6p6 F.3d 1174, 1183 (10th Cir.
2011) (concluding that purposes of exhaustion did not supposagbarsijudicial reviev where FOIA requester
completed administrative appeals process and allowed agency to develop necfaitbdto perfect initial request
by obtaining thirdparty consent for release of requested tax records).



requirementput he has not demonstratedwsuch an equitable remedy would furtR€IA’s
purposes. Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. SummJ. 6-7.1°

Bayala further contends that DHS failed to provide “the reasons” for its de&tion, in
violation of 5 U.S.C§ 552(a)(6)(A)(i) Pl.'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Sumrd. 7}* This Court
concludes thatie cover letter’s “reasons” were sufficieatrequire Bayala to file an
administrative appeal. The letter explained DS dedded to withhold certain documents in
full because the§contain no reasonably segregable portion(s) of non-exempt information.”
DHS Letter'? DHS also enumerateBOIA exemptionghat it concluded were “applicablés
withheld informatior—8 552(b)(5), (b)(6), (b)(7)(C), and (b)(7)(Eld. Lastly, DHS explained
its reasons for referring cemadocuments to the Department of State and to I@Eerable
those agencies to provide a “direct response” to Baydla.

In contending that DHS’s initial responseist explain in greater detdle agency’s

rationalefor applying certain exemptions, Badgdails to recognize that if the case were to return

19°Cf. Payne Enters., Inc. v. United Sta®37 F.2d 486, 494 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (holding that district court erred in
declining to grant equitable relief to FOIA requester where Air Forceenffirefused to disclose information,
notwithstanding Secretary of the Air Force’s previous findingsrdmptested information was not covered by FOIA
exemptions).

11 By this argument, Bayalapparentlycontend that he constructively exhausted administrative remedieBHS
hadfailedto provide “reasons,” itiitial response would ndtave compliedvith thetime limit provision of §
552(a)(6)(A)(i) and wouldhave triggeed constructive exhaustion, thereby allowing Bayala to ask a court to compel
DHS to disclose the informatiought Seeb U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C) (“Any person making a request to any agency
for records . . . shall be deemed to have exhausted his administrative remeifiee.agency fails to comply with
the applicable time limiprovisions of this paragraph; Pglesby 920 F.2d at 7.1But curiously, Bayala expressly
does not requeststilosure in this actionSee supranote 5 Pl.’s Mem. Opp’'n DHS’s Mot. Summ. J. 6 (“Mr. Bayala
is not now seeking the release of documents: he is challethgirsgiministrative appeal process employed by the
DHS.”). In any event, as explained above, fBaurt rejects Bayala’s contention that DHS failed to proffer
“reasons.” To be sure, DHS’s letter issued after the twenty day response period gebtgit U.S.C. §
552(a)(6)(A)(i). SeePl.’s Statement of Facts %2, ECF No. 1&. But this delay did not amount to constructive
exhaustion because Bayala waited uaftér DHS'’s late response to file his lawsuee Ogleshy920 F.2d at 66

67, 71.

2 Thus, DHS'’s conclusion that no por®of the withheld documents were reasonably segreigabie reason for

its determination. Bayalacorrectly construe§ 552(a)(6)(A)(i)to requirean agencyo providenot only the
“reasons” for its determination, but alge ‘reasos for its reason$ Bayala expressly notes that he is not
requesting aughnindex, correctly recognizing that such a detailed ind@fténnot required to sustain an
agency'’s position on judicial review (let alone in initial agency resppngdss Mem. Opp’'n DHS #ot. Summ. J.
15-16 (reviewing cases applyingaughn v. Rose®84 F.2d 820 (D.C. Cir. 1973)Yo the extent Bayala contends
that FOIArequires of an initial agency response something more than “reasos$dthan &aughnindex, this
Court discernsmsuch principlen the statuter case law



to the courts, DHS would not be bound by its initially cited exemptions asadGula v.
Meese 699 F. Supp. 956, 959 n.2 (D.D.C. 1988) (“[T]he defendant in a FOIA case may assert
new exemptions dhe federal district court level . not previously asserted at the administrative
level, even if the circumstancesvieanot changed in the interim(¢iting Jordan v. U.S. Dep’t of
Justice 591 F.2d 753, 779 (D.C. Cir. 1978))). Put differenthgadministrativegprocess need
notexploreall issues oarguments. Nonetheless, Congress has required FOIA requesters to
exhausthis process, so long as the agency’s initial response contains “reasons” édthexe
basic requirementss U.S.C. 8§ 552(&5)(A)(i). If Bayalawas unhappy with ta reasons
proffered by DHShe couldhaveregistered this complaiim anadministrative appeahther
than filingthis action prematurel{?

In sum, DHS has complied with its statutory obligations, and Bayala ralikesviseby
exhausng administrative remedies before seeking judicial review.

V. CONCLUSION

For theforegoingreasons, Defenddatmotionto dismissor, in the alternative, for
summary judgmenECF No. 19 is GRANTED, and Plaintiff’'s motion for summary judgment
(ECF No. 18) iDENIED.

It is herebyORDERED thatPlaintiff's complaintis dismissedvithout prejudice.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: November 4, 2014 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge

13 BayalaargueshatDHS'sinitial refusal to release the asylum officer's notes was inconsistenthgitigency’s

own litigation position inMartins v.U.S. Citizenship antimmigration Service®62 F. Supp2d 1106 1122-23

(N.D. Cal. 2013)explaining thagency mentionethe deliberative process privilege only once and “niiskeo
attempt to argue for its applicationfl.’'s Mem. Opp’n DHS’s Mot. Summ. J. 6; Pl.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J.
13. This argurentcould have been deploy&dan administrative appeab persuade DHS to adopt uniform
policies,Oglesby 920 F.2d at 65and aptlyillustrateswhy Bayalas contentiorthat he was deprived of a
“meaningful” appeal isneritless.



